IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DOLAN C. DARLING,)		
a/k/a)		
SEAN SMITH)		
)		
Appellant,)		
)		
VS.)	CASE NUMBER	SC94-691
)		
STATE OF FLORIDA,)		
)		
Appellee.)		
	_)		

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0294632 CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 252-3367 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal comprises thirteen volumes. There are an additional three volumes comprising the supplemental record. The transcript of the guilt phase of the trial are volumes numbered one through four consecutively totaling 799 pages. This portion of the record will be referred to using a roman numeral to designate the volume coupled with the letter "T" and the appropriate pages therein. The remaining nine volumes of the record are numbered consecutively from volume one through volume nine totaling 1199 pages numbered consecutively commencing with page one. Counsel will refer to this portion of the record using a roman numeral to designate the volume coupled with the letter "R" followed by the

appropriate pages. Counsel will refer to the supplemental record using the appropriate roman numeral with the volume coupled with the letters "SR" and the appropriate pages.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 12, 1997, a grand jury in Orange County, Florida returned an indictment charging Sean Hector Smith, a/k/a Dolan Carlton Darling, the appellant, with the premeditated murder of Grazyna (Grace) Mlynarczyk by shooting her with a deadly weapon, to-wit: a firearm.¹ (R V, 405) The grand jury also charged appellant with one count of armed sexual battery² of Ms. Mlynarczyk and one count armed robbery³ of Ms. Mlynarczyk. (R V, 405-407)

The originally appointed Office of the Public Defender was forced to withdraw after they certified a conflict of interest. (R V, 428-32) The trial court appointed Robert LeBlanc to represent appellant. (R V, 431-32) The trial court subsequently granted Mr. LeBlanc's motion for co-counsel and appointed Frank Iennaco. (R V, 441-44)

On July 23, 1998, appellant filed numerous motions attacking Florida's death sentencing scheme. (R V 468-610)

The case proceeded to trial before the Honorable John H. Adams, Sr. (R VI 668-74) During voir dire, the trial court restricted defense counsel's questioning of

¹ In violation of Sections 782.04 and 775.087, Florida Statutes (1995).

² In violation of Section 794.011(3), Florida Statutes (1995).

³ In violation of Sections 812.13(2)(a) and 775.087, Florida Statutes (1995).

potential jurors. (T II 187-89, 193-94)

Appellant objected to the testimony of the state's DNA expert. The trial court overruled the objection and qualified the witness as a expert. The trial court also overruled appellant's objection and rebuffed appellant's request for a Frye hearing⁴. The court allowed the DNA testimony in evidence over defense objection. (T III 560-72, 592-93)

The state rested and appellant presented no evidence. (T IV 678-80) Based upon the complete lack of evidence for armed robbery, the state stipulated to appellant's motion for judgment of acquittal as to that particular charge. (T IV 678-79, 711) The trial court denied appellant's motion for judgment of acquittal as to the charges of murder and sexual battery. (T IV 695-709)

During final summation by defense counsel, the trial court sustained the state's objection and precluded defense counsel from arguing the failure of the state to exclude other suspects. (T IV 737-41, 772)

After defense counsel completed his allowed argument to the jury, the prosecutor asked the jury to rely on their recollection of the evidence. When defense counsel attempted to argue that the state's evidence was lacking, the trial court sustained the state's objection and precluded appellant's argument in rebuttal.

⁴ Frye v. United States, 293 F.1013, (D.C. Cir. 1923).

(T IV 746-47)

The trial court denied appellant's request for a special jury instruction on circumstantial evidence. (T IV 709-15;R VII 762, 787) Following deliberations, the jury returned with verdicts finding appellant guilty of first-degree murder and armed sexual battery. (R VII 789-91) The trial court adjudicated appellant guilty of these two offenses. (R VII 793-95) Prior to the commencement of the penalty phase, appellant filed a motion to preclude death as a possible penalty based on the violation of international treaty law. (R VII 808-10)

During the penalty phase, the trial court sustained the state's objection and refused to allow appellant to argue in mitigation that he had steadfastly declared his innocence. (R II 67-69, 210-12, 249-51) At the charge conference, the trial court denied many of appellant's requested jury instructions. (R VIII 1052-76)

Following deliberations, the jury recommended that the trial court sentence Appellant to death. (R VIII 1086) Following a Spencer⁵ hearing (R IX 1144, IV 318-42), the trial court sentenced appellant to death finding two aggravating factors and substantial mitigation. (R VIII 1121-27) The trial court sentenced appellant to a concurrent term of 256.5 months for the armed sexual battery. (R IX 1132) Appellant filed a notice of appeal on January 8, 1999. (R IX 1145) This

⁵ Spencer v. State, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

brief follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Guilt /Innocence Phase

The victim in this case, Grusonii Mlynarczyk, a Polish woman also known as "Grace", met Zdzislaw Raminski, also known as "Jesse", in Gdansk, Poland in 1990. (T II 323-25) Jesse was visiting from Orlando where he owned Able Transportation, which provided shuttle service to and from the airport and the surrounding attractions. (T II 326)

In September 1992, Grace left her husband and two small children in Poland. She arrived in Orlando and began working as a driver for Jesse. Grace's visa expired in 1993, but she continued to live illegally in Orlando. (T II 324-28, 338-40) At some point, Grace and Jesse became romantically/sexually involved. (T II 325-26) Grace's husband eventually became aware of the illicit relationship. (T II 341) Jesse married another woman in 1996 with whom he had at least one child. Jesse's wife remained ignorant of his ongoing affair with Grace. (T II 340)

Jesse Raminski was the only witness at trial to provide any details of Grace's last day alive. Jesse stopped by Grace's apartment at 9:30 a.m. on October 29, 1996. Grace was doing laundry in the apartment complex laundry room. Jesse

⁶ Grace and her husband had a turbulent relationship, and he had threatened to kill her in the past. (T II 361)

stayed in the car and Grace met him out front. Grace wore shorts and a small t-shirt. Jesse gave her \$300.00 in cash for work she had performed.⁷ (T II 327-30) Grace told Jesse that she had an appointment with her gynecologist that afternoon. She had been complaining of vaginal itching.⁸ (T II 328-29, 342-43, 369)

As Jesse talked to Grace that morning, he noticed some people talking together behind his car. (T II 347-48) Jesse thought they could have been the maintenance crew. (T II 347-48) Grace feared the maintenance people who worked at the apartment complex. She had asked management to change her locks and had taken it upon herself to install a security chain on her door. (T II 345-46)

After driving away from Grace and her laundry duties, Jesse talked to her briefly by phone at approximately 10:15 a.m. while he was at the Orlando airport. He attempted to call her several more times that morning, but his cell phone failed to connect. He finally got through again before 2:00 p.m. that afternoon and left a message on Grace's answering machine. (T II 331-32) That afternoon he tried to reach Grace two more times without success. When he got home at 4:12 p.m., he called and left another message. He then changed his clothes and drove over to

⁷ Jesse paid Grace in cash because of her illegal status in this country. (T II 364)

⁸ Grace had an IUD birth control device inserted about one year earlier. (T II 353-54, 368)

Grace's apartment. (T II 333-35)

Without noticing if Grace's door was locked, Jesse used his key to gain entry. He noticed a basket of laundry on the living room floor. He noticed that Grace's bedroom door was closed which was also unusual. When he entered Grace's bedroom he found her lying face up on the floor. Her legs were inside the walk-in closet. She was nude from the waist down. Jesse noticed no apparent injuries. (T II 333-36) Jesse picked her up and put her on the bed. When he did so, he noticed that she was cold. He also found blood on his hand. He called 911 and waited for the paramedics and police to arrive. (T II 336-38)

Lt. Richard Lalonde and firefighter Sexton responded to the call. When they arrived at the apartment complex, Jesse was waiting outside. When they entered Grace's apartment, they noticed no signs of a struggle. In fact, the apartment appeared very neat. The EMTs removed Grace from her bed and placed her on the floor. They were about to perform CPR, when they noticed that rigor mortis had set in. Sexton got a towel from the laundry basket in the living room and covered Grace's nude lower half. (T III 376-84)

Orange County Deputy Sheriff William Pictrzrak arrived at the apartment as the EMTs were leaving. At that point, he secured the crime scene. (T III 385)

⁹ Jesse described such "mess" as very unusual. (T II 338-35)

Deputy Michael Davis processed the crime scene looking for evidence. (T III 393-94) He spent nine days throughly processing the apartment searching for blood, latent prints, and any other usable evidence. (T III 405-407) He lifted many latent fingerprints from the apartment. He took over 1,000 photographs. (T III 408-409) He found no gun, no casings, and very little blood. (T III 409-410) The apartment was quite neat and showed no signs of struggle. (T III 410) Davis found close to \$2,000 in cash still in the apartment. (T III 433-32)

Dr. William Anderson, the medical examiner concluded that Grace died sometime before 1:00 that afternoon but sometime after 11:00 p.m. the day before. (T II 445,454). Grace died from a single gunshot in the back of the head. (T III 446-55, 463-641) The bullet apparently passed through a pillow before entering her head. (T III 409, 446-55) Dr. Anderson found no evidence that Grace had been bound or that she fought or scratched her assailant. (T III 461)

A critical issue at trial was whether or not Grace had been sexually battered prior to her death. The medical examiner found one small tear in the rectal area which was consistent with penile or digital penetration.¹⁰ (T III 458-59) There

¹⁰ In his sworn deposition, Dr. Anderson testified that Grace's anal area suffered no injuries. At trial, the doctor's testimony changed. (T III 466-67)

were also recent abrasions¹¹ in the vaginal region. (T II 456, 468) The doctor never said how "recent" the abrasions were. The doctor found no lacerations. (T III 468) The abrasions were consistent with penetration by some object, for example a finger or a penis. (T III 459) The abrasions were also consistent with Grace scratching herself to relieve itching. (T III 468-69) Dr. Anderson believed that the injuries were an indication that recent sexual contact was non-consensual. He said that the rectal tear would cause "some pain". (T III 460) Dr. Anderson concluded that the injuries were not consistent with consensual sex based on his conclusion that the pain would interrupt the activity.

When pressed on the matter, Dr. Anderson admitted (as he did in his deposition) that the vaginal abrasions could have occurred during consensual "rough sex." (T III 464-65) The small rectal tear could have been the result of consensual anal intercourse. (T III 458-59, 467) Dr. Anderson would not agree that the absence of defensive wounds indicated that the encounter had likely been consensual. (T III 467)

Dr. Anderson noted during the autopsy, moderate cervical inflamation. (T

¹¹ The doctor explained that an abrasion is a hemorrhage without bleeding, similar to skin scrapes. (T II 457-468)

¹² The finding explained Grace's complaint that prompted her to make an appointment with her gynecologist.

III 470) This could have caused a vaginal discharge. (T III 473) Dr. Anderson noticed no generalized vulva infection, i.e., no inflamation in the vaginal area. Dr. Anderson explained that the cervix was a long way from the labia. (T III 469-70, 473-74) A vaginal cream would not have relieved Grace's medical problem, but douching would. (T III 471-72) Based on these factors, Dr. Anderson opined that the vaginal abrasions were not the result of Grace's cervical inflamation. (T III 473-74)

Of the many fingerprints lifted from Grace's apartment, one found on a bottle of skin care lotion in her bathroom matched Appellant's right thumb. (T III 487-95, 501-2, 524-29) There was no way to determine when the print was left on the bottle. (T III 504-5)¹³ Tony Moss, the latent print examiner on the case, studied the **171** latent prints gathered from Grace's apartment. Moss only found one print matching the appellant. Two prints were identified as belonging to Jesse Raminski. Thirteen prints were identified as belonging to Grace. Ninety-seven prints were determined to be of value. Seventy-four prints were determined to be of no value. (T III 531-36)

The day after the murder, Corporal Stewart Deritter, a detective in the

Latent prints remain for quite sometime unless they are wiped away. (T III 541-42) The forensic analyst testified that he has found prints left on porous surfaces twenty three years earlier. (T III 506)

homicide unit of the Orange County Sheriff's office, participated in a canvass of Grace's apartment complex. (T III 514) Deritter and other officers knocked on doors and talked to neighbors. They briefly described what they were looking for and ascertained the neighbors' comings and goings. Police were trying to find witnesses. (T III 515)

During the canvass, Corporal Deritter came into contact with the appellant at unit #96 where the appellant lived. (T III 515) Appellant's apartment was located in the building just north of the building that contained Grace's apartment. (T III 516-17) Corporal Deritter made contact with Darling just as he was coming home. Deritter had a very brief conversation with the appellant which the detective described as follows:

Identified who I was, my credentials. Said we're conducting a neighborhood canvass to find out if anybody in this time period has seen anybody referenced to a lady's death that occurred, do you know her. And that was basically it.

(T III 516) In response, appellant replied "That he was working and didn't know anything of the incident. Had no information." (T III 517)

Vaginal and rectal swabs from the victim tested positive for semen, more specifically, sperm. (T III 508-10, 543-47) There was no evidence as to how long the semen could remain in the vagina. DNA testing of the semen matched samples

obtained from the appellant. (T III 521-23, 592-96) Specifically, the state's expert computed the odds of a random Caucasian male exhibiting the same profile matching five autorads would be one out of 239 billion. The odds of a random African American matching that same profile would be one in 104 billion. For Hispanic males, the odds would be one out of 1.7 trillion. More conservative calculations that eliminated the problems caused by substructuring, raised the probabilities of random matching. Using the more conservative equations, Baer calculated the odds for Caucasians as one out of 99 billion; for African Americans-one out of 101 billion; and for Hispanics-one out of 1.3 trillion. (T 470-74)

In computing the odds for Caucasians, the state's expert used an Orlando data base that law enforcement had compiled in the early nineties. That data base consisted of information from between one hundred fifty and two hundred people. For the African Americans statistics, the expert used the FBI data base which consisted of approximately seven hundred subjects. The expert used the FBI data base for Hispanics as well. That data base had approximately eight hundred subjects. (T IV 662-63)

The state's DNA expert conceded that it is twice as likely for a black person to have the same DNA profile as the appellant. In contrast, it was seventeen times less likely that a Hispanic person would have the same DNA profile as the

appellant. (T IV 664)

The state's expert admitted that he had no data base at all for Bahamians or any other ethnic group. (T IV 664) Baer admitted that Broward County had compiled a data base for the Bahamian population, but he did not seek that out to use in his calculations in this case. (T IV 667) He conceded that certain ethnic groups that are isolated from other ethnicity and races reproduce certain DNA markers repeatedly. As a result these populations have wildly different DNA than the rest of earth's population. (T IV 664-65)

B. Penalty Phase

1. State's Case

The state offered proof of one prior criminal episode involving the appellant. In November, 1996, appellant robbed and shot a cab driver in the course of stealing his taxi. As a result of this one incident, the state convicted appellant of carjacking, robbery, and aggravated battery. (R I 30-35; State's #24)

The only other witness presented by the state at the penalty phase was

Joanne Reed, a friend of the victim who knew Grace in the two years prior to her

death. Reed, who also worked as a driver for Jesse Raminski, testified that Grace

was like her little sister. (R I 36-38) Reed explained that Grace was a warm,

loving, caring, very gentle person with a good heart. (R I 42)

Grace was sorely afraid of her Polish husband, whom Reed described as a mean drunk. Grace was so frightened of her husband that she left her small children and fled to the United States to escape his savage beatings. (R I 38-39) Once she arrived, Grace fell in love with the United States. She also fell in love with Jesse Raminski who had helped her escape Poland. (R I 38-40) Grace talked of Jesse all the time. She claimed that the two of them discussed getting married. (R I 40)¹⁴

2. Appellant's Case

Eleanor Bessie Smith gave birth to the appellant on May 28, 1976 in the Bahamas where she lived.¹⁵ Eleanor never married Dolan's biological father, Carlton Darling. Carlton did not believe in marriage. (R II 65, 77-78)

Carlton Darling had already fathered a daughter with Eleanor Smith in 1966.

He did not move in with Smith until ten years later, after Dolan was born. (R II 107) Life at the Darling household was less than idyllic. Sundays were especially bad. Carlton Darling did not work on Sundays. He stayed home and drank all

¹⁴ Reed did not discuss the unlikelihood of the marriage plans coming to fruition in light of Raminski's existing marriage and family.

¹⁵ In the Bahamas, if the parents are not married, the child is registered with the mother's last name. If the father later files an affidavit, the child takes the father's last name. This explains Appellant's two very dissimilar names, Sean Smith and Dolan Darling. (R II 100)

day.¹⁶ He was an angry drunk who was ready to fight about anything and everything, real or imagined.¹⁷ (R II 81)

Dolan suffered much of the physical abuse meted out in the household. At the age of sixteen, Dolan missed an appointment with his probation officer.¹⁸ Carlton Darling's sanction for this offense was a beating using a PVC pipe. The beating was loud enough to wake Dolan's older half sister who was too scared to intervene. (R II 84) The beating necessitated a hospital visit.¹⁹ (R II 127) On another occasion, when Dolan was five minutes late meeting his father after school, Carlton used a metal coat hanger to inflict a beating. (R II 92-94) Many times, he drew the ire of his father when Dolan attempted to stop his father's physical abuse of Dolan's mother. Carlton would then turn his wrath on Dolan.²⁰

¹⁶ Carlton Darling admitted that he consumed alcohol to excess. (R II 77, 125-26)

¹⁷ Carlton Darling came by his violent nature honestly. His father had physically abused him as a child. (R II 128)

¹⁸ Appellant was under some type of court supervision for a traffic ticket received after he drove his mother's car before he was of legal age. (R II 84, 90-92)

Doctors at the hospital urged Dolan's mother to call the police, but she refused. (R II 128)

²⁰ Carlton Darling readily admitted beating Dolan on many occasions using a variety of weapons, including a club, a closet rod, and the infamous PVC pipe. (R II 166)

(R II 79, 96, 103-104)

Carlton Darling was emotionally abusive as well. He was a flagrant philanderer who embarrassed his family on a daily basis. He had numerous affairs with other women and fathered at least one child by another woman. (R II 101, 105, 108) His numerous affairs created even more discord at home. (R II 112) He was not discreet at all. His misconduct was open and notorious. One of his girlfriends lived just up the street from the Darling household.(R II 78)

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