## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DOLAN C. DARLING, a/k/a SEAN SMITH

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC94691

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee. /

# ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JUDY TAYLOR RUSH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #438847 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990 Fax # (904) 226-0457 COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

# CERTIFICATE OF FONT

This brief is typed in Courier New 12 point.

####

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

> I oppose any circumstantial evidence instruction because . . . the courts have essentially found the standard instruction on reasonable doubt . . . sufficient, and . . . the circumstantial evidence instruction tends to mislead the jury into thinking that somehow circumstantial evidence is of a lesser degree.

> Certainly the ones submitted are inaccurate and incomplete, and should not be given.

(T 710-11). The trial judge ruled:

I don't find that any extraordinary circumstances have been presented in this case that would compel me to override the general principle enunciated by the supreme court, which is no instructions on that subject be given.

(T 713). Defense Counsel offered only that the instant case is "a death penalty case," and opined that this gave the trial court "some leverage in fashioning jury instructions." (T 713). The trial court rejected that as insufficient, again stating: "I don't find any . . . set of circumstances that exist in this case that require me to override the general principle enunciated by the supreme court." (T 714).

Contrary to Darling's representation to this Court on appeal, he did **not** renew his objection to the denial of his circumstantial evidence jury instruction request. Rather, after the judge instructed the jury, he inquired whether the instructions are acceptable as read?" (T 767). Defense Counsel responded: "Yes, Your Honor." (T 767). As a result of his failure to renew his objection at the time the instructions were read to the jury, this issue is procedurally barred. *See generally, Knight v. State*, 746 So. 2d 423, 429 (Fla. 1998)[appellate challenge to denial of peremptory challenge procedurally barred by failure to renew objection to juror before jury sworn]; *Pomeranz v. Stat*, 703 So. 2d 465, 469 (Fla. 1997)[appellate challenge to denial of *motion in limine* seeking to preclude admission of collateral crimes evidence

procedurally barred by failure to renew objection during trial or at closing argument].

Assuming arguendo that the issue is properly before this Court, it is without merit. The requirement of a circumstantial evidence instruction was eliminated by this Court in 1981. *Pietri* v. State, 644 So. 2d 1347, 1355 n.9 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 515 U.S. 1147 (1995). Where the jury was "adequately instructed on reasonable doubt and burden of proof," the refusal to give a requested instruction on circumstantial evidence was not error. *Id*. Darling has not claimed that the reasonable doubt and burden of proof jury instructions in his case were inadequate, and the State contends that they were not. He is entitled to no relief on this meritless claim. *Branch v. State*, 685 So. 2d 1250, 1252 (Fla. 1996).

#### POINT VI

## THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING REBUTTAL CLOSING ARGUMENT TO THE DEFENSE WHERE THE STATE WAIVED ITS CLOSING ARGUMENT.

On appeal, Darling claims that he should have been permitted to make a rebuttal closing argument even though the State waived its closing argument, thereby leaving nothing to rebut. (IB 69). He says he was entitled to the "concluding argument," i.e., "the **last** argument," not just to argue "any facts in rebuttal." (IB 71). He is incorrect.

In Dean v. State, 478 So. 2d 38, 44 (Fla. 1985), this Court rejected just such a claim. After the defendants' attorneys completed their initial final argument, "the prosecutor stood up .

. . and asserted, 'I think I can save the court some time. The evidence speaks for itself. We rest.'" 478 So. 2d at 44. The trial judge ruled that "this did not constitute final argument on the part of the state" and precluded any additional closing argument by the defendant. *Id.* This Court held that "the prosecution's waiver of final argument in the instant case provided no reason for defense counsel's further argument to the jury" and found "no error." *Id.* 

In reaching its decision in *Dean*, this Court quoted extensively from the decision in *Menard v. State*, 427 So. 2d 399 (Fla. 4th DCA), 427 So. 2d 399 (Fla. 4th DCA). In *Menard*, "[a]t the end of the initial final argument presented by the defense,"

the prosecutor announced: "The State of Florida is going to rely on the evidence and testimony before the court and juror's common sense, and we will waive our argument." *Dean*, 478 So. 2d at 44 (*quoting Menard*, 427 So. 2d at 400). The defense complained, as does Darling, that the statement "'relying on the evidence and common sense' . . . was final argument." *Id*. The court disagreed, stating: "The remark did [not] address the evidence in particular nor any other testimony. Nor did they dwell unnecessarily on the level of intelligent consideration to be extended by the jury. Moreover, . . . the comments were but a very few words and . . . did not rise to the level of final argument." *Id*. Clearly approving of this reasoning, this Court said: "Similarly, the prosecution's waiver of final argument in the instant case provided no reason for defense counsel's further argument to the jury." *Id*.

The prosecutor in Darling said essentially the same thing as the prosecutors in *Dean* and *Menard*, and therefore, his statement did not constitute rebuttal, or concluding, argument and provided no reason for any further argument by the defense. Moreover, Darling's attorney made an **informed** strategic decision to present his initial closing argument as he did, as Darling concedes on appeal, "defense counsel was gambling by 'holding back' in his initial summation." (IB 72). However, appellate counsel well misses the mark when he adds: "Undoubtedly, he truly believed that he would have another chance to address the jury." (IB 72). The

record shows that trial counsel well knew that the State might waive its closing argument, as follows:

The Court: The State is entitled to waive its closing.

Mr. Iennaco: I have no problem with that either. I knew that might be coming. . . .

(emphasis added) (T 747). Knowing that the State might well waive its argument, the defense said all it really had to say during its initial closing argument. This is clear by counsel's "I have no problem with that" comment as well as the fact that he mentions not one area he did not already discuss with the jury. He says only that he wants to "again" argue "the lack of evidence" argument he had already made. (T 746). Certainly, Darling can show no prejudice in not being permitted to reargue the points he had **just made** to the jury in his initial closing argument.

Finally, on appeal, Darling claims that the prosecutor's statement in this case "constitutes an argument" because of "the entirely circumstantial nature of the evidence." (IB 72). This claim is procedurally barred because it was not raised in the lower court. See Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982).

In any event, it is without merit. Darling has offered no authority for the position that circumstantial evidence magically transforms a statement which has been previously held not to be a closing argument into one. The State contends that there is none, and Darling has failed to establish any logical reason why there

should be any such holding. Having utterly failed to carry his burden of proof, he is entitled to no relief on this claim.

### POINT VII

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN PRECLUDING DARLING'S ATTEMPT TO ARGUE RESIDUAL DOUBT AS TO GUILT TO THE JURY AS A REASON FOR A LIFE RECOMMENDATION.

Darling claims that he should have been permitted to argue residual doubt of his guilt to the jury as a basis for making a recommendation of life in prison instead of a sentence of death. (IB 74). He acknowledges that this court has a long and consistent history of rejection of this claim. (IB 75). However, he asks this Court to reconsider this issue, yet again, "given the weaknesses of the state's case" against him. (IB 82).

This issue, as argued on appeal, is not preserved for review. Trial Counsel did not contend that he should be permitted to make the instant argument because the State's case against Darling was "weak." See T 67-69. Further, the matter was before the lower court as a three-grounded objection to a question asked of a witness, not an argument being made by Defense Counsel. Thus, the matter is not properly before this Court. See Steinhorst.

Moreover, the trial judge properly sustained the objection which was based on hearsay, relevance, and "the representation from [Defense] Counsel that they would be not testifying about the crime in any way." (T 68). The witnesses had been permitted to remain in the courtroom throughout the proceedings based on this representation. (See T 282). The question asked went directly to

guilt/innocence and was, therefore, improper based on the stipulation. The objection was properly sustained. It was also properly sustained because the matter was irrelevant. Darling's guilt had already been conclusively determined, and as he admits, the well-established precedent of this Court is that residual or lingering doubt is not mitigation. *Sims v. State*, 681 So. 2d 1112, 1117 (Fla. 1996), *cert. denied*, 117 S.Ct. 1558 (1997); *Rose v. State*, 675 So. 2d 567, 577 n.5 (Fla. 1996); *King v. State*, 514 So. 2d 354 (Fla. 1987), *cert. denied*, 487 U.S. 1240 (1988); *Burr v. State*, 466 So. 2d 1051 (Fla. 1985), *cert. denied*, 474 U.S. 879 (1985). *See Bates v. State*, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S471 (Fla. Oct. 7, 1999)["[N]o constitutional right to present 'lingering doubt' evidence exists."].

In Preston v. State, 607 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 1992), cert. denied, 507 U.S. 999 (1993), the defendant wanted to present statements that another person (his brother), had confessed to committing the crime during the penalty phase proceeding. Preston claimed the information was relevant to the mitigator domination of another or action under extreme duress. 607 So. 2d at 411. This Court rejected that contention, stating that "[t]he only relevance of the testimony was to suggest that someone else committed the murder, thereby creating residual doubt about the defendant's guilt ...." Id. Holding that "[r]esidual doubt is not an appropriate nonstatutory mitigating circumstance," this Court said that the

evidence was "properly excluded." Id.

In the instant case, the evidence Darling sought to present went strictly to residual doubt. Thus, it was properly excluded. Darling has presented no reason for a change in this settled precedent. The evidence against him was not "weak" and well met the beyond a reasonable doubt standard. He is entitled to no relief.

#### POINT VIII

## DARLING HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE ANY ERROR IN REGARD TO HIS CLAIM THAT THE APPELLATE RECORD IS INCOMPLETE.

Darling claims that he is "unable to provide this Court with a complete record to conduct appellant (sic) review." (IB 83). He complains generally that there are "[s]everal times" that the record "contains court minutes . . . indicating that a hearing was held and that a court reporter was present," but upon his inquiry regarding production of a transcript, he was told "no stenographic notes for those hearing[s]" could be found. (IB 83). He claims that there was "at least one major hearing . . . on appellant's 'death penalty motions,'" and later characterizes this hearing as "critical." (IB 83, 85). Yet, despite claiming to have discussed it with "trial counsel" and "court personnel," (IB 84), he does not even hint at any basis for the "critical hearing" label. Surely, before appellate counsel would represent to this Court that the hearing was a "critical" one, he must have been told what happened thereat. Whether he obtained that information from Darling, trial counsel, or the unidentified "court personnel," it is his obligation to share it with this Court, and the State, if he hopes to obtain any relief on the claim. He carries the burden of proof this regard, and the vague, barebones claim is wholly in insufficient on which to base either form of relief he seeks.

Moreover, had Darling's well-experienced appellate counsel

believed that whatever happened at the referenced hearing was, in fact, "critical," he surely would have moved this Court to relinquish jurisdiction for reconstruction of the record. The issue, as raised in the initial brief, is untimely and improperly presented and should be denied.

Finally, the case on which Darling relies, Delap v. State, 350 So. 2d 462 (Fla. 1977), cert. denied, 496 U.S. 929 (1990), is distinguishable from the instant case. In Delap, a great deal of the record of the proceedings in the trial court were missing. These included "no transcripts . . of 'the jury charge conferences; charge to the jury in both the trial and penalty phases; voir dire of the jury; and closing arguments of counsel in both the trial and penalty phases' of the proceedings . . ." Craig v. State, 510 So. 2d 857, 861 (Fla. 1987), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 1020 (1998). In Delap, "the trial court . . found upon inquiry into the matter that it was 'impossible to reconstruct said portions of the record . . . and there appears to be no means of completing the requested record." Id.

In Craig, the defendant claimed to want "a verbatim transcript of the prosecutor's arguments on the sentencing issue." Id. He claimed, as Darling does, that without it "there can be no meaningful appellate review." Id. This Court rejected that claim, distinguishing Delap on the above bases, and noted that "the trial court found that it was possible to assemble a reasonably accurate

reconstruction of what was said." Id.

As mentioned above, Darling's well-experienced appellate counsel did not even attempt reconstruction of the record. The State contends that by presenting this claim to this Court without having first presented it to the trial court (or having moved this Court for relinquishment to make such a presentation) he has procedurally barred the claim on appeal. Furthermore, since it is Darling's burden to prove error, he must show that the failure to report the hearing, or to reconstruct the record, prejudiced him. See Songer v. Wainwright, 423 So. 2d 355, 356 (Fla. 1982) [defendant could show no prejudice where charge conference transcript not included in record where the instructions were in writing and included in record]. See also Turner v. Dugger, 614 So. 2d 1075, 1079-80 (Fla. 1992) [failure to record bench conferences harmless where no prejudice established]. Where, as here, appellate counsel has not disclosed any basis for his unsupported allegation that the hearing was a "critical" one, despite having talked to trial counsel, "court personnel," and presumably, his client, about what occurred thereat, he has not met the prejudice requirement. Darling is entitled to no relief.

### POINT IX

# DARLING HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE ANY ERROR IN THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF HIS SPECIAL REQUESTED JURY INSTRUCTION PERTAINING TO BURDEN SHIFTING AND VICTIM IMPACT EVIDENCE.

Darling complains about the denial of two of his requested jury instructions. (IB 86). He says that one of the instructions improperly shifted the burden of proof to him, and also complains that another instruction regarding victim impact evidence, prejudiced him. (IB 86, 88). He is incorrect.

**Burden-Shifting:** Darling claims that the standard instruction on aggravating factors and mitigating circumstances misstates the law. (IB 86). He complains that the instruction "impermissibly shift[s] the burden of proof regarding mitigating circumstances." (IB 86).

This Court addressed this claim on the merits in *Shellito v*. State, 701 So. 2d 837 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 118 S.Ct. 1537 (1998). In *Shellito*, this Court said:

> . . . Shellito argues that the trial judge erred in refusing to give his requested clarifying instructions on mitigating evidence and on who bears the burden of proving that death is the appropriate penalty. We reject each of these claims. This Court has repeatedly determined that the requested clarifying instructions on mitigating evidence are not required. . . Likewise, we do not find that the standard instructions improperly shift the burden of proof. . .

(citations omitted) 701 So. 2d at 842. Since Darling's jury was instructed with the standard instruction approved in Shellito,

there is no merit to his claim.

Moreover, as mentioned above, after the trial judge instructed the jury, he specifically asked Defense Counsel whether the instructions were acceptable as read. Counsel responded that they were. (T 767). Trial counsel waived any objection to the jury instructions, and therefore, this issue is procedurally barred. **Victim Impact**: Darling claims that his proposed jury instruction on victim impact evidence should have been given. He says the failure to give it "was error," and that it was an accurate statement of the law "not adequately covered in the standard jury instructions." (IB 86). His proposed instruction on victim impact evidence was:

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